Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically RECEIVED on 12/21/2020 at 6:12:31 PM Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 12/21/2020 by Tao Zhang, Deputy Clerk

No. S263972

In the

Supreme Court

of the

State of California

City of Santa Monica, Defendant and Appellant, v. Pico Neighborhood Association, et al., Plaintiffs and Respondents.

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF

After a Published Decision of the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Eight Case No. BC295935 (Subsequently Depublished by this Court)

I. ISSUE CERTIFIED FOR REVIEW

What must a plaintiff prove in order to establish vote dilution under the California Voting Rights Act?

II. INTRODUCTION

In enacting the California Voting Rights Act ("CVRA"), the Legislature sought to expand the protections of the federal Voting Rights Act ("FVRA") to better address the unique diversity and politics of California. The CVRA did just that and has been a resounding success eliminating "winner-take-all" at-large elections that hindered minority voters' effective participation in local elections in hundreds of political subdivisions, and dramatically increasing minority representation in local government.

That success is owed to the simplicity of the CVRA, relative to the FVRA, and the CVRA's corresponding greater protection of minority voting rights. A CVRA plaintiff prevails on a vote dilution claim by proving racially polarized voting in relevant elections, either alone or in conjunction with other historical, socio-economic, and political factors, and the availability of an alternative election system that would improve minority voters' political strength. Plaintiffs prove racially polarized voting by showing that the minority group is politically cohesive and the majority votes sufficiently as a bloc to enable it, in the absence of special circumstances, usually to defeat the minority's preferred candidate. To

establish vote dilution under the CVRA, plaintiffs do not need to prove the minority is concentrated enough to be the majority in a single member district. Nor do they need to prove that minority voters would be able to elect a candidate of their choice under an alternative election system; it is sufficient to show an alternative election system would enable them to "influence the outcome of an election" in a way they were not previously afforded.

Whether an alternative system would improve minorities' ability to elect candidates of their choice or influence the outcome of elections requires "a searching practical evaluation of the past and present reality," guided by objective standards. For the remedy adopted by the trial court here—district elections—those objective factors include: (1) the minority's proportion of the electorate in a potential remedial district or districts, compared to its proportion in the entire jurisdiction; (2) the degree of support received by minority-preferred candidates and ballot choices in past elections within a potential remedial district; and (3) other political, social, and economic conditions impacting minority voters' ability to compete in alternative systems, as compared with at-large elections. While the compactness or concentration of a minority community may be a factor in selecting an appropriate remedy, a court cannot require that the minority constitute a majority in a proposed district, as the Legislature explicitly

eschewed that inflexible requirement adopted under federal law as ill-suited to California's distinct demographic and political conditions.

Applying these principles here, the trial court found that Plaintiffs proved that racially polarized voting had plagued Defendant's at-large city council elections for at least the last quarter century, leading to a dilution of the Latino vote. The trial court also found that other historical, socioeconomic, and political factors, specified in the CVRA, supported its finding that Defendant's at-large election system diluted the Latino vote and violated the CVRA. Finally, the trial court found that a district election system with a Latino "influence" district was the most appropriate remedy, because, while other remedies would also afford Latino voters the ability to elect candidates of their choice, or at least influence the outcome of elections, district elections would best accomplish that remedial purpose on the facts of this case.

While this case was on appeal, that district-election remedy was stayed. Too long denied full participation in the democratic process, Santa Monica's Latino voters should not have to continue to suffer from Defendant's disempowering at-large system. This Court should reinstate the trial court's judgment, finding a violation of the CVRA and ordering district elections.

III. BACKGROUND

A. Statutory Framework

In 2002, the Legislature enacted the CVRA to implement the equal protection and voting rights guarantees of the California Constitution. (Elec. Code § 14031.)¹ The CVRA is intended to "provide a broader basis for relief from vote dilution than available under the federal Voting Rights Act of 1965" (*Jauregui v. City of Palmdale* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 781, 806), and tailor voting rights protections to California's unique diversity (see *Sanchez v. City of Modesto* (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 660, 669, citing and quoting Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 976 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 9, 2002, p. 2.).

To accomplish this goal, the Legislature selectively incorporated some aspects of the FVRA, but deliberately and significantly departed from others. The framework for vote dilution claims under the FVRA, announced in *Thornburg v. Gingles* (1986) 478 U.S. 30 ("*Gingles*"), thus provides essential context for the CVRA, but is only a starting reference, not an end point, to understanding the CVRA.

¹ Further statutory references are to the Elections Code unless otherwise noted.

1. The *Gingles* Framework and the Federal Debate About Dilution of Influence

Gingles acknowledged the Supreme Court's longstanding recognition that "at-large voting schemes may 'operate to minimize or cancel out the voting strength of racial [minorities in] the voting population." (Gingles, supra, 478 U.S. at p. 47, quoting Burns v. Richardson (1966) 384 U.S. 73, 88.) As the Court explained, "[t]he theoretical basis for this type of impairment is that where minority and majority voters consistently prefer different candidates, the majority, by virtue of its numerical superiority, will regularly defeat the choices of minority voters." (Gingles, supra, 478 U.S. at p. 48; see also, Rogers v. Lodge (1982) 458 U.S. 613, 616 ["At large voting schemes and multimember districts tend to minimize the voting strength of minority groups by permitting the political majority to elect *all* of the representatives of the district. ... The minority's voting power in a multimember district is particularly diluted when bloc voting occurs"].)

Gingles set out three "preconditions" to a successful vote dilution claim under Section 2 of the FVRA. First, the minority group must be "sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority in a single-member district" ("*Gingles* Prong 1") (478 U.S. at p. 50); second, "the minority group must be able to show that it is politically cohesive" (*id.* at p. 51) ("*Gingles* Prong 2"); and third, the "majority [must] vote[]

sufficiently as a bloc to enable it -- in the absence of special circumstances ... usually to defeat the minority's preferred candidate" ("*Gingles* Prong 3") (*ibid.*, citation omitted). *Gingles* Prongs 2 and 3 are collectively referred to as "racially polarized voting." (*Id.* at p. 56; *Ruiz v. City of Santa Maria* (9th Cir. 1998) 160 F.3d 543, 551.)

Under *Gingles*' framework, once the "preconditions" are established, federal courts apply a "totality of the circumstances" test to consider the extent of racially polarized voting together with other qualitative factors identified in the Senate Judiciary Committee Report that accompanied the 1982 amendments to Section 2—the "Senate Factors." (*Gingles, supra,* 478 U.S. at pp. 37-38, 43-46, 80; see, e.g., *Old Person v. Cooney* (9th Cir. 2000) 230 F.3d 1113, 1120, 1128-29.)

Gingles also sparked a debate over FVRA protection for minorities outside potential majority-minority districts. Two alternatives were central: (1) minority voters' practical ability to elect candidates while constituting less than the majority of a district, with some crossover support; and (2) minority voters' practical ability to influence elections even when they could not drive the election of their own preferred candidate. Based on the text of the FVRA, the *Gingles* majority limited its opinion to claims alleging impairment of the minority's "ability *to elect* the representatives of their choice," stating that it had "no occasion to consider" possible claims alleging an impairment of the minority's "ability to *influence* elections."

(*Gingles, supra*, 478 U.S. at p. 46 fn.12, emphasis in original.) And, it limited its opinion to districts affording the ability to elect because they were majority-minority. The "ability to elect" standard tracks the language of Section 2, which, unlike the CVRA, addresses only election structures that result in members of the protected class "hav[ing] less opportunity than other members of the electorate ... to elect representatives of their choice," not less opportunity to influence election outcomes. (52 U.S.C. § 10301(b).)

Justice O'Connor's concurring opinion noted the "artificiality" of this distinction and criticized the majority-minority district requirement of Gingles Prong 1 for failing to account for instances where a minority constituting less than 50% of a district can elect its preferred candidates with supporting white crossover votes. (*Gingles, supra,* 478 U.S. at p. 89 fn.1, O'Connor, J., concurring.) Justice O'Connor further cautioned that courts should "bear in mind that 'the power to influence the political process is not limited to winning elections." (*Id.* at p. 99, citation omitted.)

Over the following two decades, the Supreme Court and lower courts weighed in on whether and in what form the electoral power of such minority groups is entitled to protection or recognition under the FVRA. In several contexts, courts held that influence districts should be considered in assessing a minority's voting power. (See, e.g., Justice O'Connor's majority opinion in *Georgia v. Ashcroft* (2003) 539 U.S. 461, 480-83

[discussing theories of effective political representation and holding the minority's ability to exercise political power through "influence districts" relevant to retrogression analysis in FVRA Section 5 cases] (superseded by statute); Vecinos De Barrio Uno v. City of Holyoke (1st Cir. 1995) 72 F.3d 973, 979, fn. 2, 990-91, collecting cases; compare Justice Stevens' majority opinion in *Chisom v. Roemer* (1991) 501 U.S. 380, 396-398 [discussing] whether the ability to elect candidates is essential to a claim under FVRA Section 2] with Justice Scalia's dissent, pp. 409-410 & fn. 2 [same, and recognizing a textual distinction in the statute between the ability "to elect" and an ability "to influence"].) Indeed, in *Georgia*, the Court acknowledged that influence districts—"where minority voters may not be able to elect a candidate of choice but can play a substantial, if not decisive, role in the electoral process"—may in some circumstances be the most effective way to enhance minority voting strength. (539 U.S. at p. 482.)

Then, in *Bartlett v. Strickland* (2009) 556 U.S. 1, the Supreme Court reaffirmed the majority-minority district requirement of *Gingles* Prong 1 and ruled that dilution of electoral capacity attainable only through influence or crossover voting was not a cognizable claim under Section 2 of the FVRA. (*Id.* at p. 26.) While ruling that Section 2 does not require the creation of influence districts, the *Bartlett* plurality was careful to note positive aspects of influence districts, and also confirmed that "[s]tates that wish to draw crossover districts are free to do so where no other prohibition exists." (*Id.* at pp. 23-24.) *Bartlett*'s preclusion of influence or crossover dilution claims under Section 2 occasioned strong dissents from Justices Souter, Ginsburg, and Breyer, each agreeing that the law should recognize the functional ability of a cohesive political minority to elect its preferred candidates even in districts where it constitutes less than a majority. (See *id.* at pp. 26-48.)

2. The CVRA

In designing the CVRA, the Legislature drew heavily on *Gingles* and its progeny, but also marked a path distinct from the FVRA in several significant respects—particularly in its embrace of claims that a minority's ability to *influence* elections may be impaired by an at-large voting system, and its related embrace of claims that a minority's ability to elect its preferred candidates has been diluted even when the minority is not sufficiently geographically compact to constitute a majority in a single-member district. The core provisions of the CVRA are briefly summarized here; a more detailed analysis follows in Section V, *infra*.

Section 14027 provides that "[a]n at-large method of election may not be imposed or applied in a manner that impairs the ability of a protected class to elect candidates of its choice or its ability to influence the outcome of an election, as a result of the dilution or the abridgment of the rights of voters who are members of a protected class[.]"² The explicit safeguard against dilution of a protected class's ability not just to "elect candidates of its choice," as in Section 2 of the FVRA (52 U.S.C. § 10301(b)), but also to "influence the outcome of an election," deploys the state's ability to exceed a federal statutory floor, decisively aligning the CVRA with the protections envisioned by Justices O'Connor, Souter, Ginsburg and Breyer. Thus, the Legislature acknowledged the pivotal role a cohesive bloc of voters may play even when they cannot constitute a district's numerical majority.

Section 14028(a) provides that "[a] violation of Section 14027 is established if it is shown that racially polarized voting occurs in elections for members of the governing body of the political subdivision or in elections incorporating other electoral choices by the voters of the political subdivision." Racially polarized voting is defined as "voting in which there is a difference, as defined in case law regarding enforcement of the [FVRA], in the choice of candidates or other electoral choices that are preferred by voters in a protected class, and in the choice of candidates and electoral choices that are preferred by voters in the rest of the electorate." (§ 14026(e).)

² The CVRA defines "protected class" as "a class of voters who are members of a race, color, or language minority group" (§ 14026(d).)

The remainder of subdivisions (a) and (b) of Section 14028 provide additional guidance for the racially polarized voting analysis, selectively adopting principles from some FVRA cases and rejecting the contrary principles expressed in others, as discussed below. Two elements of this guidance are of particular significance here: first, the command that "[t]he occurrence of racially polarized voting shall be determined from examining results of elections in which at least one candidate is a member of a protected class or elections involving ballot measures, or other electoral choices that affect the rights and privileges of members of a protected class;" and second, the direction that "[o]ne circumstance that may be considered in determining a violation of Section 14027 and this section is the extent to which candidates who are members of a protected class and who are preferred by voters of the protected class, as determined by an analysis of voting behavior, have been elected to the governing body of [the defendant]." (§ 14028(b).)

Section 14028(c), specifying, "[t]he fact that members of a protected class are not geographically compact or concentrated may not preclude a finding of racially polarized voting, or a violation of Section 14027 and this section, but may be a factor in determining an appropriate remedy" underscores the Legislature's determination to draft a statute without the limitations of *Gingles* Prong 1. (See also Senate Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 976 (2001–2002 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 11, 2002, p. 4,

[acknowledging the CVRA departs from the federal requirement "that a minority community be sufficiently concentrated geographically to create a district in which the minority community could elect its own candidate," because this elimination would "presumably make it easier to successfully challenge at-large [elections]"].)

Section 14028(e) lists qualitative factors that are "probative, but not necessary factors to establish a violation of Section 14027 and this section." The non-exhaustive list includes "the history of discrimination, the use of electoral devices or other voting practices or procedures that may enhance the dilutive effects of at-large elections, ... the extent to which members of a protected class bear the effects of past discrimination in areas such as education, employment, and health, which hinder their ability to participate effectively in the political process, and the use of overt or subtle racial appeals in political campaigns." These qualitative factors track the "Senate Factors" announced with the 1982 amendment to the FVRA. (See *Gingles, supra*, 478 U.S. at pp. 36-37, 43-46, 80; *Old Person, supra*, 230 F.3d at pp. 1120, 1128-29.)

Section 14029 provides that "[u]pon a finding of a violation of Section 14027 and Section 14028, the court shall implement appropriate remedies, including the imposition of district-based elections, that are tailored to remedy the violation." In determining whether a particular remedy is "appropriate," the court may consider whether members of a

protected class are "geographically compact or concentrated."

(§ 14028(c).)

B. Proceedings Below

In 2016, Plaintiffs Pico Neighborhood Association and Maria Loya filed this case, asserting Defendant's at-large method of electing its City Council impairs the ability of Latino voters to elect their preferred candidates, or at least to influence the outcome of council elections. (1AA70-80; 4AA1141-1162.) The case was tried over six weeks in August and September 2018. (24AA10670.) Following a series of post-trial briefs and hearings, on February 13, 2019 the trial court entered judgment for Plaintiffs and issued a detailed Statement of Decision, finding Defendant's at-large elections violate the CVRA and the Equal Protection Clause of the California Constitution. (24AA10669-10739; 24AA10649-10664.) The trial court ordered the implementation of district-based elections with a remedial district encompassing the Latino-concentrated Pico Neighborhood, which it determined would effectively remedy the vote dilution established at trial. (24AA10707; 24AA10733-10735; 24AA10739.)

1. Trial and Findings of the Trial Court

Over the course of the six-week trial, the trial court heard testimony from seven experts and nine lay witnesses. Witnesses testified regarding, among other things: statistical analyses of voting behavior in Santa Monica

city council and other elections;³ the challenges Latino candidates have experienced campaigning in the at-large system;⁴ the history of discrimination experienced by Latinos in Santa Monica, socioeconomic disparities, and the many environmental and other harms heaped upon the Latino-concentrated Pico Neighborhood over many years;⁵ and the viability of several remedial election systems—districts, limited voting, cumulative voting, and ranked choice voting.⁶

a. The Trial Court Found a Stark Pattern of Racial Polarization in Santa Monica's Elections.

The trial court accepted the estimates of voter support from each major racial group for each city council candidate over the past 24 years that both Plaintiffs' and Defendant's experts calculated using the well-established ecological regression method. (24AA10679-10694.)

The trial court found that the analyses of both sides' experts revealed "a consistent pattern of racially polarized voting." (24AA10680; see also

³ See, e.g., RT3021:2-3021:19; RT3057:22-3089:12; RT3171:5-3199:24; RT5515:22-5524:19; RT5528:1-5537:9; RA56-76; RA193-215.

⁴ See, e.g., RT2145:11-2145:23; RT3453:11-3453:28; RA281-282; RA291-292.

⁵ See, e.g., RT2292:19-2294:22; RT2302:13-2303:14 [objections later overruled at RT2429:10-11]; RT2316:10-2317:27; RT3755:6-3756:11; RT6078:18-6081:20; RT6083:10-28; RT7968:28-7989:23; RT8630:8-8631:27; RT8637:17-8639:24; RT8770:28-8772:15; RT8774:21-8788:15; RT9153:25-9156:14; 25AA11001; RA28; RA39-40; RA41; RA49; RA255-256; RA285-287; RA294-295; RA297-346; RA346.

⁶ See, e.g., RT6817:2-6819:16; RT6919:14-7073:22.

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