No. S263972

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF SANTA MONICA,

Defendant and Appellant,

v.

PICO NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION; MARIA LOYA,

Plaintiffs and Respondents.

CITY OF SANTA MONICA'S ANSWER BRIEF

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B295935 Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. BC616804 The Hon. Yvette M. Palazuelos, Judge Presiding

Gov't Code, § 6103

CITY OF SANTA MONICA GEORGE CARDONA (135439) Interim City Attorney George.Cardona@smgov.net 1685 Main Street, Room 310 Santa Monica, California 90401 *KAHN A. SCOLNICK (228686) Telephone: (310) 458-8336

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

ARGUMENT

In defining "dilution," the Court should account for both the Legislature's intent to broaden liability in vote-dilution cases *and* the reasons federal courts have declined to do so.

Federal courts have held votes cannot be diluted unless it is possible to draw a majority-minority district, where a cohesive minority group could be assured of the ability to elect a candidate of its choice. Drawing less-concentrated districts along racial lines would be unconstitutional because the necessary racial classifications would serve no compelling interest. It would also be impossible to establish any principled cutoff between valid and invalid claims.

Plaintiffs' theory of the case—that an election system dilutes minority voting power whenever it is possible to draw a district where minority voters would be 25% of the electorate—runs headlong into these problems. "Dilution" requires a measurable change in voting power, and a group that small cannot change electoral outcomes in a winner-takes-all district, particularly where the premise of plaintiffs' case is that Latinos and non-Latinos prefer different candidates.

It is possible to avoid the problems identified by federal courts *and* still expand vote-dilution claims, as the Legislature intended, by requiring plaintiffs to prove that a protected class

would account for a near-majority of voters in a hypothetical district and that the class would sometimes, if not always, be able to elect its preferred candidates.

At a minimum, there can be no vote dilution when an alternative system would *reduce* a protected class's voting power. This case illustrates how districts can destroy the electoral influence a group already has. Latino voters' preferred candidates have usually been elected in Santa Monica's at-large system. Switching to districts would weaken Latinos' voting strength by "packing" some into a district—where they would be nowhere near a majority and would lack enough crossover support to elect their preferred candidates—and "cracking" the rest across several districts where they would have no electoral influence.

I. Vote dilution is an element of the CVRA.

The CVRA requires plaintiffs to prove an at-large election system "impairs the ability of a protected class to elect candidates of its choice or its ability to influence the outcome of an election, as a result of the dilution . . . of the rights of voters who are members of a protected class." (Elec. Code, § 14027(a).)

In the statement of decision that plaintiffs wrote, the trial court expressed doubt that "dilution' is a separate element of a violation of the CVRA." (24AA10706.) Likewise, in their petition for review, plaintiffs questioned whether the CVRA "imposes a so-called 'dilution' element that is separate and apart from racially polarized voting." (Pet. at 24.)

Now, for the first time, plaintiffs claim the CVRA "can be interpreted in *two* reasonable ways." (OB-40, italics added.) The first is to ignore the statutory term "dilution." The second is what the Court of Appeal correctly held: The CVRA requires plaintiffs to prove that "an alternative election method would afford the protected class the opportunity 'to elect candidates of its choice' or 'influence the outcome of an election' they were not previously afforded." (*Ibid.*; accord Opn. at 30-31.)

A. The Court should reject plaintiffs' argument that dilution is not an independent element of the CVRA.

Section 14027 requires "dilution" caused by an at-large system. Plaintiffs argue this language has no independent meaning because the next section states that "[a] violation of Section 14027 is established if it is shown that racially polarized voting occurs" in the relevant elections. (OB-42.)

The Court of Appeal persuasively explained why collapsing racially polarized voting and dilution into a single element is poor statutory interpretation. For one thing, three sections of the CVRA "require plaintiffs to satisfy *both* the dilution element of section 14027 and section 14028's requirement of racially polarized voting." (Opn. at 33.) "These statutory passages require sections 14027 and 14028 to have independent content." (*Ibid.*)

For another, plaintiffs' interpretation violates the rule against surplusage. (Opn. at 32-34.) Had the Legislature intended the CVRA to turn on racially polarized voting alone, it

would have written a shorter, simpler statute. And, as the Court of Appeal correctly noted, the choice of the word "dilution" was hardly accidental. It "has been a core part of the voting rights vocabulary" for decades. (*Id.* at 34.) Although the word does not appear in section 2, the federal statute on which the CVRA was based, it routinely appears in section 2 cases. (E.g., *Thornburg v. Gingles* (1986) 478 U.S. 30.) "It would have been incongruous," the Court of Appeal concluded, "to make a key word nugatory." (Opn. at 34.)

Plaintiffs also suggest that certain "qualitative factors" set out in section 14028(e) might establish vote dilution "in combination with" racially polarized voting (OB-42-43), but there is no authority for that proposition. Those factors track the "Senate factors" addressed in section 2 cases; the Senate factors become relevant only *after* plaintiffs have proven vote dilution by showing it is possible to create a majority-minority district that will result in the election of more minority-preferred candidates. (E.g., *Johnson v. Hamrick* (11th Cir. 1999) 196 F.3d 1216, 1220.)

Finally, reading "dilution" out of the CVRA would violate the federal Constitution. It would force jurisdictions to abandon their voting systems and adopt new ones, for race-based reasons, solely based on differences in voting patterns or qualitative factors, even if minority voters would fare no better in the new system. (See Parts II.A-B, *infra*.)²

24

Reading vote dilution out of the statute would also eliminate the "statewide concern" that justifies the CVRA's application

B. Plaintiffs adopt the holding of the very decision from which they appeal.

Likely because they do not expect this Court to write "dilution" out of the CVRA, plaintiffs spend the rest of their brief following the Court of Appeal's "dilution" analysis step for step.

Both begin with the plain meaning of "dilution": to weaken something. (OB-45; Opn. at 27.) Both also explain that it is impossible to determine whether something has been "diluted" without reference to an "undiluted benchmark." (OB-46; Opn. at 30.) And both agree that courts have long applied this principle to vote-dilution claims under section 2. (*Ibid.*) In fact, both cite the same case, *Reno v. Bossier Parish School Board* (1997) 520 U.S. 471, for the proposition that "plaintiffs must postulate an alternative voting practice to serve as the benchmark undiluted voting practice, because the concept of vote dilution necessitates the existence of an undiluted practice against which the fact of dilution may be measured." (Opn. at 30; OB-46.) Without this benchmark, a plaintiff could never prove that the challenged voting system has harmed minority voters. (E.g., *Gingles*, 478 U.S. at 50, fn. 17.)

The parties agree, then, that the CVRA's dilution element requires courts to determine whether a protected class would have meaningfully greater voting strength under some hypothetical election system. The dispute is over how to put that requirement into practice.

to charter cities. (See *Jauregui v. City of Palmdale* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 781, 800.)

II. The Court should adopt an objective, administrable standard for dilution that avoids constitutionality and justiciability concerns that federal courts have long identified.

Section 2 plaintiffs must prove dilution by showing it is possible to create a majority-minority district. (*Bartlett v. Strickland* (2009) 556 U.S. 1 (plurality opn.).) The CVRA softens that requirement, permitting a finding of dilution where switching to districts will increase a protected class's ability "to influence the outcome of an election." (Elec. Code, § 14027.)

The question for the Court is what increasing "influence" means and how far the CVRA can stray from federal law without becoming judicially unmanageable or unconstitutional.

The answer must be that a minority group has increased "influence" over the "outcome of an election" only if its preferred candidates would win more often, even if not in every election. If the group's preferred candidates would not win even under some alternative system, then any additional "influence" would have no real-world effect on the "outcome" of elections.

Forcing a jurisdiction to abandon its chosen electoral system under those circumstances would have the *opposite* effect from what the Legislature intended. It would (a) weaken the overall voting strength of the relevant minority group, concentrating some minority voters in one winner-takes-all district where they would never win and scattering the rest across districts where they could not concentrate their votes; (b) violate the voters' constitutional right to choose their own election system, because there would be no compelling interest

requiring them to change it; and (c) subject cities to liability (and massive fee awards) for *resisting* a change that would dilute minority voting strength. These are the consequences of plaintiffs' theory that the CVRA creates liability wherever a minority group would have a slightly larger share of the voting population in one district (of seven) than in a charter city's voterchosen at-large system.

Courts have rightly condemned "dilution" theories like plaintiffs', which reflect no manageable standards and raise serious federal constitutional concerns. (See, e.g., *Bartlett*, 556 U.S. at 21-23.) The Court should therefore adopt an objective, administrable measure of increased "influence": proof that a protected class would be a near-majority in a hypothetical district and that the group's preferred candidates are reliably supported by enough crossover votes that they would likely win.

A. Federal courts have rejected influence claims as non-justiciable and unconstitutional.

A section 2 violation occurs when members of a protected class "have less opportunity than other members of the electorate to participate in the political process and to elect representatives of their choice." (52 U.S.C. § 10301(b).) That language does not require plaintiffs to prove it is possible to draw a majority-minority district.

Yet in *Gingles*, the U.S. Supreme Court required proof of a majority-minority district as a prerequisite for a section 2 claim. That requirement ensures the challenged electoral system has actually injured the protected class by diluting its voting

strength: "Unless minority voters possess the *potential* to elect representatives in the absence of the challenged structure or practice, they cannot claim to have been injured by that structure or practice." (478 U.S. at 50, fn. 17.) The Court had no occasion to decide whether a minority group too small to form a majority of voters in a hypothetical district could state a section 2 claim on the theory that the district would allow it to "influence the outcome of an election even if its preferred candidate cannot be elected." (*Bartlett*, 556 U.S. at 12-13.)

After *Gingles*, lower courts uniformly deemed "influence" claims non-justiciable because there is no principled line between valid and invalid claims. For example:

- McNeil v. Springfield Park District (7th Cir. 1988) 851
 F.2d 937, 947: "Courts might be flooded by the most marginal section 2 claims if plaintiffs had to show only that an electoral practice or procedure weakened their ability to influence elections."
- Illinois Legislative Redistricting Commission v. LaPaille, 786 F.Supp. 704, 716 (N.D.Ill. 1992) (three-judge panel): "If 10% of the voters can 'swing' an election, perhaps so can 1% or 0.1%. A single voter is the logical limit."
- Dillard v. Baldwin County Commissioners (11th Cir. 2004) 376 F.3d 1260, 1267-69: "We cannot conceive of any method by which we could award [the plaintiff] relief in this case without awarding similar relief to even smaller minority groups in future cases."

In time, the U.S. Supreme Court began to echo these concerns. In *Holder v. Hall* (1994) 512 U.S. 874, 881 (plurality opn.), for example, the Court explained that "where there is no objective and workable standard for choosing a reasonable benchmark by which to evaluate a challenged voting practice, it follows that the voting practice cannot be challenged as dilutive under § 2."

The Court also suggested that influence claims might be unconstitutional. If section 2 protected mere "influence," "it would unnecessarily infuse race into virtually every redistricting, raising serious constitutional questions." (*LULAC v. Perry* (2006) 548 U.S. 399, 445-446 (plurality opn.).)

Eventually, in *Bartlett v. Strickland* (2009) 556 U.S. 1, the Court held that Section 2 does not authorize "influence" claims, and that section 2 plaintiffs must prove the possibility of a majority-minority district.³ The Court offered many persuasive justifications for the majority-minority requirement, some of which are summarized below; the Court also explained why the standard is neither arbitrary nor a response to some peculiar feature of section 2.

First, the very concept of "influence" dilution is internally inconsistent. To establish a violation of section 2 (or the CVRA), plaintiffs must prove, among other things, that the majority votes

³ *Bartlett* was a three-justice plurality opinion, but only because Justices Thomas and Scalia would have gone further than the plurality by eliminating the *Gingles* framework entirely. (556 U.S. at 26 (conc. opn. of Thomas, J.).)

as a bloc to defeat minority-preferred candidates. (*Gingles*, 478 U.S. at 50-51.) But if there is ample crossover voting to support minority-preferred candidates—which is the premise of any influence-centric theory—then "[i]t is difficult to see how the majority-bloc-voting requirement could be met." (*Bartlett*, 556 U.S. at 16.)

Second, the majority-minority rule provides "straightforward guidance" to lower courts and public officials, whereas a "less exacting standard that would mandate" influence districts "would place courts in the untenable position of predicting many political variables and tying them to race-based assumptions." (Bartlett, 556 U.S. at 17-18; see also Miller v. Johnson (1995) 515 U.S. 900, 914, 927-928 [condemning racebased assumptions about voter behavior].) A court weighing an influence claim would have to answer, among other questions, "How reliable would the crossover votes be in future elections?" and "What are the historical turnout rates among white and minority voters and will they stay the same?" (Bartlett, 556 U.S. at 17.) These and other questions "are speculative, and the answers . . . would prove elusive," because courts "are inherently ill-equipped' to 'make decisions based on highly political judgments' of the sort that [influence] claims would require." (Ibid.) Making "predictive political judgments" would be especially difficult, the Court explained, about "regional and local jurisdictions that often feature more than two parties or candidates," such as "nonpartisan contests for a city commission." (Id. at 18.) In such elections, "voters' personal affiliations with

candidates and views on particular issues can play a large role." (*Ibid.*)

Third, the majority-minority rule "avoid[s] serious constitutional concerns under the Equal Protection Clause." (556 U.S. at 21.) The Constitution forbids predominantly race-based remedies unless they are narrowly tailored to serve compelling government interests. (Cooper v. Harris (2017) 137 S.Ct. 1455, 1463-1464.) Courts have long assumed without deciding that governments have a compelling interest in remedying vote dilution. (Id. at 1464.) It therefore may be necessary to engage in racial classifications when doing so gives a minority group an ability to elect candidates of its choice that it would not otherwise have. (Id. at 1472; see also Bush v. Vera (1996) 517 U.S. 952, 982 (plurality opn.) [race-based redistricting cannot survive strict scrutiny unless "the affected racial group's residential patterns afford the opportunity of creating districts in which they will be in the majority"].) But ordering public entities to draw districts to maximize minority influence "would result in a substantial increase in the number of mandatory districts drawn with race as 'the predominant factor motivating the legislature's decision." (Bartlett, 556 U.S. at 21-22.) Far from bringing us toward "the goal of a political system in which race no longer matters," mandating influence districts would impermissibly "require courts to make inquiries based on racial classifications and racebased predictions." (Id. at 18, 21.)

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